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JANUARY 1ST


1756: On this day, Ralph Carr opened the Bank of Newcastle – the country’s first provincial bank. Other towns and cities had businesses which called themselves ‘banks’, like Woods at Gloucester and Smiths of Nottingham. Those institutions carried out a range of financial services and business dealings. But Carr’s innovation was a new and risky venture – the Bank of Newcastle was the first institution outside of London and Edinburgh to rely solely on the business of banking. With £2,000 in capital – drawn equally from four partners – the company took premises in Pilgrim Street. Bank of Newcastle banknotes depicted the city’s coat of arms and a view from the Bigg Market towards St Nicholas’s Church. Initially, there were some difficulties in getting all merchants to take the notes seriously – Ralph Jackson records in his diary, in March 1756, that ‘Mr Surtees paid me in Bank Notes (viz the Bank of Newcastle) but Mr Featherston would not take them …’ In the first year, the Bank of Newcastle issued notes amounting to over £15,000, received deposits for £10,000 (including gaining the custom of Lord Ravensworth, and the trustees of the Infirmary), and made just over £1,000 in profit. While it had initially been a risky venture, the experiment proved so successful that it was replicated all over the country. Locally, Carr’s enterprise became known as ‘the Old Bank’ to distinguish it from competitors. Carr’s bank remained in business until 1839, when it was taken over by the Northumberland and Durham Bank. (Diary of Ralph Jackson; Monthly Chronicle of North Country Lore and Legend, 1889


JANUARY 2ND


1548: On this day, an inventory was taken of all the munitions and ordnance of war held within Newcastle. These give us a fascinating insight into the machinery of sixteenth-century warfare, as well as Newcastle’s often surprising provisions for conflict. Most of the foot soldiers were equipped with black bills (a hooked blade on a 5-6 feet long stick) or bows – there were 2,000 of each! Others had pikes (400), and demilances (250) with smaller numbers of staves. Also held in the city were weapons made by converting farming equipment – hedging bills, scythes, sickles and axes. Cannons were now an important part of the city’s armoury, with one ‘saker’ and forty-four ‘bases’ – both early forms of cannon – and 1,700 iron shots of various types for them. Two hundred smaller guns, called ‘hackbuts’, were also available. The inventory also lists chemicals such as serpentine powder (gunpowder), and the ingredients to make it: saltpetre, sulphur and charcoal, plus mortars and pestles. Added to the munitions were tools – an array of spades and pick axes, mining equipment, leather buckets, coils of thick rope, and cressets (metal cages for making lit torches). And to carry it all? Newcastle had fifty new carts and six old ones, twenty privy carts, and gear for 100 horses. (Welford, R., History of Newcastle and Gateshead, 1884)


JANUARY 3RD


1430: On this day, Roger Thornton, ‘the Dick Whittington of Newcastle’, died in his lavish house in Broad Chare. As the legend tells it, ‘at the Westgate came Thornton in, With a hap, and a halfpenny, and a lambskin’. We really don’t know whether his beginnings were this humble, though his brother was probably John Thornton, a town bailiff. But wherever he started, Roger Thornton’s rise was staggering, as he worked his way up to be (according to King’s Antiquary, Leland) ‘the richest marchant that ever was dwelling in Newcastell’ and a substantial landowner, able to marry his children into noble households. He really was connected with ‘lambskin’ – he made his money trading in wool, as well as coal, wine, and lead. But he is best remembered for his work for the medieval town. He was Mayor nine times, and served as a collector of taxes and customs, a bailiff and commissioner of enquiry, and four times as Member of Parliament for Newcastle. In 1400, he was involved in the deal that made Newcastle a county, and five years later he spent 1,000 marks of his own money defending the town against the Earl of Northumberland’s rebel forces. In later life he donated a lot of money to charitable and religious ventures, like the Maison Dieu (hospital) of St Katherine in Sandhill, a chantry at All Saints’ Church and the east window of St Nicholas’s Church. He is buried under a fine brass in All Saints’ Church. (www.historyofparliamentonline.org)


JANUARY 4TH


1770: On this day, a rather unusual advert appeared in the Newcastle Chronicle: ‘This is to acquaint the public that on Monday the first inst., being the Lodge (or monthly meeting night) of the Free and Accepted Masons of the 22nd Regiment, held at the Crown Inn, Newgate, Mrs. Bell, the landlady of the house, broke open a door (with a poker) that had not been opened for some years past, by which means she got into an adjacent room, made two holes through the wall and by that stratagem discovered the secrets of Masonry, and she, knowing herself to be the first woman in the world that ever found out that secret, is willing to make it known to all her sex. So any lady that is desirous of learning the secrets of Freemasonry by applying to that well learned woman Mrs. Bell (that lived fifteen years in and about Newgate Street) may be instructed in all the Secrets of Masonry.’ We don’t know whether this is a genuine story, promotion for the pub, or something else. It has been suggested that the story is a hoax, designed to ridicule and silence Mrs Bell. Perhaps she really had learned a bit about the Masons, and even boasted about her knowledge, but this advert would have made her very unpopular with some of the loacals. (www.masonicworld.com)


JANUARY 5TH


1967: At 5.15 a.m. on this snowy morning, the body of Angus Sibbett was found on the backseat of his car, under a bridge in South Hetton, County Durham. He had been shot three times. The two men accused of Sibbett’s murder were his work colleagues, Michael Luvaglio and Dennis Stafford, who worked for a company supplying fruit machines to Newcastle businesses (Luvaglio was the boss’s son), hence the crime soon became known as the ‘One Armed Bandit Murder’. Luvaglio and Stafford were thought to have believed that Sibbett had begun to siphon money off from the business. Although they had been in The Birdcage public house in Newcastle for most of the night in question, and despite the fact that the blood in Sibbett’s car did not match theirs, the jury controversially found Luvaglio and Stafford guilty, reasoning they would just have had time to make it to the crime scene. The two men continued to fight to clear their names long after their release from prison in 1979, and the case has been challenged twice, taken to the House of Lords, and reviewed a further time. Sibbett’s life and death was (very loosely) the inspiration for the gangland film Get Carter. (Wade, S., The Torso in the Tank and Other Stories, Black and White Publishing, 2005)


JANUARY 6TH


1954: On this day, the Lord Mayor received a letter from the French Consul suggesting a formal friendship tie between Newcastle and Nancy, capital of the Lorraine district. After some formal visits, the two cities were formally ‘twinned’. The Civic Centre retains links with Nancy’s local government, and BBC North has ties with local TV station FR3 Nancy. This was not Newcastle’s first twinning – in the late 1940s, ties were made with Groningen (Netherlands), and Gelsenkirchen (Germany). More recently, Newcastle has been twinned with Haifa (Israel), Newcastle (Australia), Bergen (Norway), and Atlanta (USA). In 1961, the Russians judged a link between Newcastle and Rostov-on-Don ‘a waste of time and money’.
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1955: On this day, the comedian and actor Rowan Atkinson was born in a nursing home on Jesmond Road, Newcastle. He didn’t stay long – his father was a farmer, and Atkinson spent the first seventeen years of his life in Consett, County Durham. Still, it was at the Theatre Royal on Grey Street, aged eleven, that he first experienced live theatre; a pantomime starring Terry Scott. In 1972 he started at Newcastle University, studying electrical engineering. He recalls: ‘I wasn’t a terribly exciting student. I lived in a hall of residence – Henderson Hall – for all my time there and I worked very hard for that degree. I did some revues at Newcastle but they weren’t very good ones really. They consisted mainly of Monty Python rewrites as I recall’. (Gibson, J., Spirit of Tyneside, John Donald Publishers Ltd, 1990)


JANUARY 7TH


1594: On this day, thousands of people gathered to witness the execution of Catholic priest Edward Waterson. A Londoner, as a young adult Waterson travelled to Turkey with some merchants. While there, he was reputedly offered a prestigious bride – if he would convert to Islam. He refused, but started thinking about his faith, and, returning back via Rome, converted to Catholicism. Unfortunately, that set him on a collision course with the policies of Protestant Elizabethan England. Returning in the summer of 1592, he travelled around, preaching and performing Mass for almost a year before being arrested. Found guilty of performing as a Catholic priest, he was sentenced to be hanged, drawn, and quartered. According to a Catholic Archdeacon who witnessed the event, the horses refused to drag the hurdle (to which Waterson was bound) to the scaffold, and when he finally got there, the ladder jumped around of its own accord, and couldn’t be used until Waterson himself made the sign of the cross over it.


Waterson was not the first to suffer this fate in Newcastle – only six months earlier, another priest, Joseph Lampton, went the same way. It was recorded that the executioner got halfway through drawing the unfortunate man’s intestines out when he staggered away, horrified at his own actions. A local butcher stepped up to complete the sentence.


Edward Waterson was beatified in 1929. (Challoner, R., Memoirs of Missionary Priests, Burns Oates and Washbourne, 1924)


JANUARY 8TH


1842: On this day, 200 workmen were given a slap-up meal with extra strong ale at the Unicorn Inn in the Bigg Market, accompanied by a lively band. The occasion was the completion of the Victoria Tunnel, a stone and brick tunnel 7 feet 5 inches high and over two miles long. This connected the Spital Tongues (or Leazes Main) Colliery, which opened in 1835, with the River Tyne, thus avoiding the cumbersome horse-drawn cart transportation of coal through town. The tunnel was officially opened on April 7th. Unfortunately, while the tunnel did its job well – carrying coal wagons moving under gravity, with the aid of a stationary steam engine – the Spital Tongues Colliery only lasted until 1860. The tunnel was left unused, and both ends were soon lost in housing developments. Nothing more happened until 1928-9, when the Victoria Tunnel Mushroom Company took an interest. The company did not last long, but the council continued to rent the tunnel to mushroom growers until 1950. In 1939, almost the whole length was converted for use as an air-raid shelter for the people of Newcastle, with seven entrances positioned along the way. This was a massive undertaking, with the provision of electric lighting, chemical toilets, seating for 9,000 people and bunks for 500. Doubtless it was uncomfortable, but a civil servant’s report of the time notes that this being a mining district, those sheltering would be ‘fitted constitutionally’ to withstand the conditions! (Jones, M., Victoria Tunnel: Newcastle’s Hidden Heritage, Ouseburn Trust, 2010)


JANUARY 9TH


1537: On this day, Newcastle’s Augustinian Friary was surrendered as part of the Dissolution of the Monasteries. This monastery, founded in 1291, had seen some illustrious visitors over the years, partly because it was on one of the main roads to the North. King Edward I stopped there only a few years after it opened, giving each of the brethren 3s 4d. Richard II must have been unimpressed when he came through town as he ordered the bailiffs of Newcastle to take steps to tackle locals’ dumping of ‘excrements, filth, and garbage, near to the house of the Austin Friars, to their great annoyance and peril.’ When the friary was seized in 1537, it was somewhat diminished, with only seven brethren and three novices. Unusually, the importance of the place did not diminish immediately after the Reformation. Thomas Cromwell specifically asked that the site be left intact, so that it could be used for the King’s Council of the North, when they needed to be further north than York (Elizabeth I decreed that this should be at least twenty days a year). At about the same time a tower was added to the building, for the storage of the town’s weaponry (which still survives), but by the end of the century the buildings were in disrepair and during the Civil War it was handed to the Corporation. Thirty years later they built the Holy Jesus Hospital on the site; only one sacristy wall remains of the Augustinian Friary.


JANUARY 10TH


1932: On this day, Jesmond’s real tennis court was opened to the public. This historic sport, the ancestor of lawn tennis, is played on a court around 34 metres by 12. The heavy cork ball can be bounced off the walls within play, so real tennis courts are usually indoors. Jesmond's court, also notable for its row of large circular windows, had been built in 1894 as a private facility for the Noble family, who lived in Jesmond Dene House. They hired a professional tennis player, and built up a list of those allowed to use the court. In the 1900s, the professional was Charles Lambert, one of the best in the world – and on this court, in 1904, he beat the world champion Edgar Lambert. During the First World War, the open space was used to make balloons for airships. Afterwards it reverted to the family, but in 1931, when Lady Noble died aged 103, the house and grounds were given to Newcastle City Council. The court became public, with a club set up to keep things running smoothly. The first match was between Charles Lambert and another (visiting) professional, and caused some consternation because it was refereed by an amateur. However, real tennis remained a niche sport, very much in the shadow of the immensely popular lawn tennis, which was played just outside the real tennis building. But the court was kept going, on a joint use agreement with a badminton club. During the Second World War, it was mothballed and used for storage, and thereafter badminton had the court to itself – until 1981, when real tennis made a comeback. The court is now one of only twenty-six in the country, and forty-five in the world. (www.jdrtc.co.uk)


JANUARY 11TH


1828: On this day, the self-proclaimed medical expert William Henderson died. Henderson was a pitman, and, while in Newcastle Infirmary convalescing from an injury, he met and married a young nurse. When the House of Recovery was opened in 1804, she became its matron, and he (in spite of a complete lack of training) its inspector. Eventually he felt he had learned enough on the job to start calling himself a doctor, and in 1827 J. Marshall of the Old Flesh Market printed his work, Every man his own doctor … with rhymes to gratify the mind. Henderson claimed this book, costing 3s 6d, would ‘make the pupil a wiser man, his voice may give the sound and say, ‘tis worth a hundred pound!’ – although whether anyone but him thought so is open to question. (Sykes, J., Local Records, Volume II, 1833)
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2002: On this day, psychic Uri Geller started his world tour in Newcastle. The previous month, he had worked to break Newcastle United’s London losing streak by asking people to channel their positive vibes through looking at his picture in the Newcastle Evening Chronicle (which was behind the scheme). He also ran several times around the stadium during the match. United won, making Geller immensely popular with the fans. The Chronicle had previously tried calling in the aid of an exorcist and two witchdoctors. (Newcastle Chronicle / www.uri-geller.com)


JANUARY 12TH


1654: On this day, Newcastle’s streets were granted freedom from a decade of dirt, grime and waste. The city’s Corporation passed a law dictating that the city’s inhabitants should oversee a thorough cleaning of their buildings and their environs every Saturday night. This had, it seems, been a custom until ‘the Reducing of this town’ – the Civil War siege of 1644. Apparently, ‘time out of mind … it hath been the constant practice of the Burgesses and Inhabitants every Saturday at night … to sweep and make clean their [house] fronts’. However, since the siege, the practice had been neglected. The 1654 order complains that even when the Mayor and Aldermen had continued to send out the Bellman to order individuals to clean their areas, ‘little or no obedience [had] been given’. This negligence led to the ‘dishonour of the Magistrates, the Disparagement of the Town, Discouragement to traffic and trade, and the begetting of noisesome smells and diseases amongst us’. The Corporation stipulated that all inhabitants now must clean in front of their houses every Saturday night, and when otherwise told. If they did not do it, they were liable to a fine – with the sum varying depending on where they lived, from 3 shillings and sixpence, to 12 pence for those outside the city walls – which would go straight into the poor rates. (Tyne and Wear Archive)


JANUARY 13TH


1740: By this day, the continuing bitter winter, finally reached the point where the people might as well use the River Tyne as a road. It had frozen over in December; ships could not move, and indeed many were damaged by the press of ice. On this date, the inhabitants of Tyneside took to the ice until the river resembled a market, with stalls selling meat and drink, footraces, and even a football match. The next day, Sir John Fenwick of Bywell held a birthday party on the river for his son – he erected a tent on the ice, where they roasted a sheep, and also travelled across the ice in a carriage. For the poor, of course, the continued cold was less enjoyable, although the Newcastle MP, Walter Blackett, ordered the distribution of £350 to the needy. The river was still frozen a month later, at which point the coal owners hired 200 men to start cutting a channel through the ice, a mile and a half long, from the staithes to the open water. It took them a week, but by that time a great mass of ice had travelled downstream, which needed clearing out. That done, Sir Henry Liddell tried to extend the channel to other staithes, but stopped when two men drowned. On February 24th the thaw finally came. (Sykes, J., Local Records, Volume I, 1833)


JANUARY 14TH


1845: On this day, the River Tyne was the setting for an extraordinary journey. The Theatre Royal had been showing a pantomime, and wanted to advertise the show. So, a clown named Wood hatched a plan – to hook a wash tub up to four geese, and sail in it down the Tyne, encouraging the geese along with a stick. Starting at King’s Meadows, an island near Scotswood (dredged away in the 1870s), Wood’s geese pulled him all the way to the Tyne Bridge, witnessed by thousands of spectators. So many came, in fact, that the banks, quays and bridge were reported as being extremely crowded, and, unsurprisingly, the Theatre Royal was packed that evening. What most of the awed spectators did not realise was that the geese were being helped – Wood’s tub was actually connected by an underwater rope to a small steamboat moving some metres ahead. Just four months later, another clown was pulling the same trick on the people of Yarmouth when the chains of a suspension bridge gave way and tipped most of the crowd into the river, killing eighty people, many of them children. (Monthly Chronicle of North Country Lore and Legend, 1887)


JANUARY 15TH


1959: On this day, at 5 p.m., Tyne Tees Television began to broadcast. Initially it was based in a converted warehouse on City Road, where it remained until 2005. Tyne Tees Television aimed to be strongly regional and independent, and they produced their own listing magazine, ‘The Viewer’. That night, Tynesiders were also able to watch a television commercial for the first time! After an opening ceremony by the Duke of Northumberland, the channel chose to kick-off with episodes of Robin Hood and Popeye. The highlight of the evening was a live interview with Prime Minister Harold Macmillan, who had been MP for Stockton-on-Tees for many years. This was followed by a live variety show, and episodes of US imports Highway Patrol, Double your Money, and I Love Lucy. These American shows gave Tyne Tees a fashionable appeal – the BBC, on the same night, offered Vera Lynn in concert, a documentary on Kathmandu and a philosophical discussion. No great surprise then that Tyne Tees soon found an audience. Later productions of Tyne Tees Television included Supergran, several Catherine Cookson adaptations, and The Tube (produced for Channel 4 from the Tyne Tees studios). (Evening Gazette)


JANUARY 16TH


1988: On this day, the BBC started to broadcast from new northern headquarters on Barrack Road. They had been using the former lying-in hospital in town, which housed a single studio for Look North and BBC Radio Newcastle. But with new technology, more space was needed, and the small, listed building was no longer suitable. It was last used on Friday, January 15th 1988. The new building took over smoothly, with its first live radio broadcast the following day, and its first television broadcast (Look North) on the 18th. Back then there were two studios, where they produced regional news, radio, and a few shows mostly for children’s television. In 1989, for instance, the Look and Read series Geordie Racer introduced a whole generation of children to the Geordie accent, while showing Newcastle as a hotbed of pigeon smuggling and longdistance running. The building’s capacity was later reduced to just one studio, but it has so far avoided losing television filming completely (as has happened to some regions). The building itself was officially opened by Prince Charles, and with its slight pink-brown tint to the glazed exterior quickly gained the nickname ‘the Pink Palace’!


JANUARY 17TH


1851: On this day, reformer and editor Joseph Clark died. Born in Newcastle in 1770, and orphaned soon after, he was brought up by his eldest sister. Hearing the preaching of John Wesley, he switched from Presbyterianism to Methodism, where he developed his natural talent for public speaking. By the age of seventeen, he was preaching for the chapel, travelling from village to village; he may even have met Wesley himself. But when the Methodist New Connexion split from the mainstream, he went with them. His first appearance in print was a tribute to his dead sweetheart, published in the New Connexion’s first magazine. In accordance with her wishes, he then married her sister! In 1806, while undertaking religious rounds, he uncovered a scandal – that the inmates of the Holy Jesus Hospital were so badly paid that one had died of starvation. He campaigned, and eventually succeeded, in getting their pension increased. This got him into the world of campaigning, and he threw himself in with vigour, mostly concerning the rights and responsibilities of the trade companies, burgesses and Corporation, for instance with regard to the Town Moor. He was also responsible for pushing through a proposal for a home for the elderly freemen and their widows in the west of town. This was the ‘Peace and Unity’ hospital, so-called because the foundation stone was laid on the day that peace with France was declared, in 1814. (Monthly Chronicle of North Country Lore and Legend, 1889)


JANUARY 18TH


1370: On or around this day, Richard Helmslay, a Dominican friar based in Newcastle (in what is now called Blackfriars), began a series of controversial sermons which eventually led him to a courtroom in Rome. The Church at the time was riven with dispute between the parish church system and the monasteries. Helmslay, of course, stood with the monasteries and attacked the standards and privileges of parish priests – and in particular that of Matthew de Bolton, the elderly vicar of Newcastle. Helmslay argued that friary churches deserved the same honour as parish churches, that women did not have to be ‘churched’ (a ceremony marking her return to church after childbirth), that no one should be forced to offer candles on Candlemas day, or pay mortuary fees. He said that eighty curates within the diocese were illiterate and several had criminal tendencies. He was found guilty in Rome of holding unorthodox opinions and ordered to publicly recant in St Nicholas, Newcastle. But what sealed his notoriety was his interpretation of the 21st decree of the Third Lateran Council. The decree said that everyone ‘of both sexes’ (utriusque sexus) must make confession each year. Helmslay remarked that this only applied to those of both sexes – hermaphrodites. Presumably he was just being witty – but his opponents used it to discredit him, and he became widely known as Richard ‘of Both Sexes’! (ed. Newton, D. and Pollard, A., Newcastle and Gateshead Before 1700, The History Press, 2009)


JANUARY 19TH


1674: On this day, magistrates heard accusations of witchcraft against Peter Banks of Newcastle. Banks was no stereotypical witch – at least the way the witnesses told it – but a learned sorcerer able to command the spirits of sea and air. Apparently, one of his favourite promises – made for the sum of 20s – was that he could keep sailors safe from the dangers of the sea, for the space of a year, by ordering the spirits of the storms and rocks to assist them. He also claimed that he could undo bewitchment – ordering harmful spirits to leave – and, perhaps most tempting of all, that he ‘could make ill husbands be good to their wives’. Love was only half the price, at 10s for a year’s domestic bliss. Witness Jane Burrell, a shipwright’s wife, said that when she discovered that her husband was using Bank’s services, she was angry, and threw into the fire a piece of paper central to the magic. She said Banks ‘threatened that he would plague the informant, and she should never be worth a groat’, and that the family had suffered many problems since then. The jury was not convinced, though, and on September 1st, Banks – described by the court as a Newcastle labourer – was found not guilty of witchcraft. (Public Record Office)


JANUARY 20TH


1823: On this day, workmen began the demolition of the Maison Dieu. This ‘house of God’ was a medieval hospital dedicated to St Katherine, founded in 1412 for a priest, nine poor men and four poor women, who would live as lay brothers and sisters and be provided with their meat and drink – so long as they prayed daily. Since the place was founded by Mayor Roger Thornton, this prayer had to be for the health of the Mayor, Sheriff, Aldermen and people of Newcastle, and after their deaths, for the souls of Thornton’s family members, and other hospital benefactors. It was situated on Sandhill and was not large, measuring only 100 feet by 24 feet, though in its heyday it owned land across the region. Oddly, from 1456, Thornton’s son granted the use of the hospital’s hall, ‘for a young couple, when they were married, to make their wedding dinner in, and receive the offerings and gifts of their friends’. After the Reformation, the Thorntons continued to run the Maison Dieu as a home for the poor and elderly, until they gave it to the Corporation in 1629. By the time of its demolition, it had long been serving as a warehouse; a fish-market was then built on the site. From ‘house of God’ to ‘house of cod’ in just over 400 years … (Sykes, J., Local Records, Volume II, 1833)


JANUARY 21ST


1788: On this evening, the Theatre Royal opened its doors for the first time. This was the Mosley Street predecessor to the current Theatre Royal. The theatre company had previously been based in a Bigg Market pub. Technically, they didn’t stage dramatic performances – that was illegal. Instead, the entertainment was billed as a concert of music, which you paid for, with ‘free’ drama presented in the gaps! The opening night comprised several short pieces, including The Way to Keep Him (as you might expect, a comedy, with lead characters including Mr and Mrs Lovemoor, and the marvellously named Sir Brilliant Fashion), and The Sultan: or A Peep into the Seraglio (a farce involving a sultan, his servant, and three harem women). Before the show, the Newcastle Chronicle, looking at the cast list, was unconvinced: stating that the company ‘appears to have been strengthened by the addition of several new names, but we are sorry it has not been improved by the absence of several old ones …’ The building was knocked down in the Grainger redevelopment, but one legacy remains – the alley which once ran alongside the theatre is still called Drury Lane. (Oswald, H., The Theatres Royal in Newcastle, Northumbria Press, 1936)


JANUARY 22ND


1822: On this day, James Miller, a Warkworth carrier, came to an unfortunate end on the Newcastle Turnpike. Some distance away, three young men were enjoying a bit of target practice, setting a target up against a high wall of the ‘bullpark’ on the Town Moor (this was where the city’s bull was penned for stud, a triangle of land now occupied by the Great North Museum). But one of them, Thomas Burnet, misjudged his shot, and the bullet went over the wall, right across the park and as far as the road, where it entered Miller’s right temple and crossed the brain, being found lodged by the left ear. Following an inquest, and a criminal trial, Burnet was found guilty of manslaughter. Shooting practice so close to a public highway was illegal, and the judge roundly condemned it in his summing up. Nonetheless, Burnet’s respectability helped him out. Several other gentlemen had spoken on his behalf and he was allowed to go free until the next meeting of the court – but not before he paid £100, and another four men each put up £50 in sureties. At the next meeting of the court, he received the strikingly lenient punishment of a £10 fine. (Sykes, J., Local Records, Volume II, 1833)


JANUARY 23RD


2002: On this day, workers in protective suits began tearing down Burnside Farm, a stone’s throw from the border between Newcastle and Northumberland. Outbuildings were flattened and burned, and JCBs dug massive trenches to bury the rubble of the buildings. When the demolition was complete, a month later, the whole site was thoroughly disinfected.


The farm had stood abandoned for almost a year, since it first hit the headlines on February 22nd 2001. On that day, foot and mouth disease had been identified in the pigs, and the government identified the Heddon-on-the-Wall farm as the most likely source of the national outbreak. The farmer had sold pigs to the abattoir in Essex, where the disease was first identified, and, as an intensive farm which was also under investigation for hygiene and welfare concerns, it made a likely candidate. However, the identification of Burnside as the starting point of the epidemic – rather than merely an early stage carrier – remains controversial, the evidence contradictory. Equally there are many theories as to the first cause, from imported swill, to infection from a forty-year-old mass grave from the last major foot and mouth outbreak, one of which is close to Burnside. (Evening Chronicle)


JANUARY 24TH


1814: On this day, the River Tyne was frozen solid. It had begun to freeze over on January 15th, and stayed that way until February 6th, with an average depth of 10 inches of ice. That was plenty to allow walking with confidence (it even supported a horse and carriage), and whenever people had the chance they made their way onto the ice. The scene, it is said, resembled a country fair, with races (with and without skates), booths selling drink, or cutting hair, and people walking around selling cakes, playing music, and recruiting for the army. The ballad ‘Tyne Fair’ describes the scene beautifully:


Hats, stockings, and handkerchiefs, still hung as prizes,


Was run for by skaters and lads of all sizes;


Razor grinders quite tipsy, with Balmbro’ Jack,


And God Save the King, sung by Willy the Black.


Willy the Black is probably William Fifefield, a West Indian who had made his way to Newcastle and was well known both as a drummer in local volunteer regiments and as a the rower of a commercial ‘comfortable’ – a boat with a covered section to keep out the elements, which did well until the steam boats overtook them in the 1830s. (Livsey, William Fifefield: A Different Drummer (e-book) / Mackenzie, E., A Descriptive and Historical Account of the Town and County of Newcastle upon Tyne: Including the Borough of Gateshead, 1827)


JANUARY 25TH


1768: On this day, Sandhill saw its last bull baiting. Here, a bull would be loosely tied by around 15 feet of rope to a ring set into the ground, and three or so dogs – often, but not always, bulldogs – set upon it. The dogs would try to avoid the bull’s horns and get around to bite the soft under parts; the bull would try to gore the dogs, potentially throwing them many feet into the air with his horns. Large gatherings to watch the ‘sport’ were commonplace – there had been another in Sandhill only four days before, when the bull was bought by several gentlemen, butchered and the meat given to the poor. However, at this event things went badly wrong. The bull managed to break free, injuring several people. Worse, a young sailor was badly gored, and died the following morning. In response to these events, the magistrates ordered the removal of the bull ring. The last known bull baiting in Newcastle was six years after the Sandhill fatality. On August 10th 1774, a group of the freemen of Newcastle organised a bull baiting on the Town Moor, protesting the fact that the land had been made available to rent by the Common Council. It seems enthusiasm for bull baiting died out gradually from the north downward, with the southern counties continuing to bait bulls until it was made illegal in 1835. (Monthly Chronicle of North-country Lore and Legend, 1889)


JANUARY 26TH


1769: On this day John White, newspaper editor and the son of a York printer of the same name, died. As an interesting aside, his father had (after a brief spell in prison) done well out of printing the propaganda of William of Orange in 1688, when no one else would. The nineteen-year-old John White Jnr moved to Newcastle in 1708, and three years later founded the Newcastle Courant, initially printed three times a week, later only once a week, from premises initially in the Close, then a larger building in Side. He was now producing the only provincial paper north of the Trent (though for a brief period, in 1710, the Newcastle Gazette had been attempted by John Saywell of Gateshead); a month later he started publishing sermons and other tracts too. His father died in 1715, leaving him the majority of his estate. Meanwhile, in 1718, his mother started producing a newspaper in York, only to pass this on to her husband’s pupil, Thomas Gent. There was some sort of falling out, and White, while continuing his Newcastle business, ran a rival paper in York, the York Courant (1725-35). Active to the last (though he’d taken on a partner a few years before), White was eighty years old when he died, and was thought to have been, at that time, the oldest master printer in England. (Mackenzie, E., A Descriptive and Historical Account of the Town and County of Newcastle upon Tyne: Including the Borough of Gateshead, 1827)


JANUARY 27TH


1879: On this day, Byker Bridge, crossing the Ouseburn Valley, was opened to carts and carriages. It had been taking pedestrians across its twenty-two arches since October 19th of the previous year. There was a half-penny toll to cross, which was withdrawn in 1895. Four years later, major work was done to widen it from 30 feet to 50 feet. It is today 1,130 feet long. Byker Bridge was important in that, previously, travellers eastward would have had to climb the sides of the Ouseburn Valley. As the eastern suburbs were developing, there was more need for a quick route. Ouseburn, after all, wasn’t really an area to walk through if you didn’t have to: the proximity of the River Tyne, and ships bringing in useful ballast like limestone or flint, had encouraged industry to take over. Victorian Ouseburn saw brickworks and lead works, toffee factories, potteries, smelly tanneries, and lots of stables for carting all the products to the Quayside. In fact, the previous year Maling Pottery had opened a new factory, the Ford B, which was the largest pottery in the country. So it made sense to stay above it all, even if it did cost a penny.


JANUARY 28TH


1848: On this day, Newcastle Infirmary was the site of a landmark tragedy – the first death to be caused by anaesthetics. Hannah Greener was a healthy fifteen year old who had already experienced an ether anaesthetic. But within three minutes of being given chloroform, her face went white and her pulse stopped. The coroner blamed congestion of the lungs as a result of the chloroform. However, Dr James Simpson, who had discovered chloroform’s use only a year before, contended that the brandy given to try to revive her, combined with inadequate oxygen, was the issue, and that mouth-to-mouth resuscitation would have done the trick. The Queen’s anaesthetist John Snow (also a Geordie) argued that the handkerchief method of giving chloroform was imprecise, and recommended an inhaler. Modern examination cannot solve the case, though an additional possibility relating to a heart spasm demonstrated in lightly chloroformed patients, seems plausible. The anaesthetist at the heart of all this, Robert Glover, was an expert anaesthetist, the first to really study the bodily processes involved. He later became a chloroform addict himself, and at one point married an escaped lunatic, Sarah Hickson, with whom he spent one week before she was taken back! He died of chloroform overdose, at just forty-three. (Knight, P. and Bacon, D., ‘An Unexplained Death: Hannah Greener and Chloroform’, Anaesthesiology, 2002 / Defalque, R. and Wright, A., ‘The Short, Tragic Life of Robert M. Glover’, Anaesthesiology, 2004)


JANUARY 29TH


1897: On this day, the Chief Constable of Newcastle wrote his report for the year. The 1890s saw a peak in drinking, and more beer was being produced in the country than any time before or since. Among other things, the report shows 3,905 proceedings for drunkenness, including one man who was arrested twelve times, and another eleven. With an arrest rate over three times the national average, Newcastle had one of the worst drinking problems in the country (or the most zealous police). Around a hundred people escaped prosecution, for instance because they were soldiers handed over to the military, or because they gave false addresses. Of those prosecuted, around three quarters were male; a third were labourers. The second biggest group, at twelve per cent, were prostitutes. Five per cent were miners, with smaller numbers identifying themselves as fitters, hawkers, sailors and cartmen. Over a third of those arrested were not native to the town, probably having come to Newcastle specifically for a night on the town. At the time there was one alehouse for every 300 people – that’s one for every forty-three dwellings! (Bennison, B., ‘Drunkenness in Turn of the Century Newcastle upon Tyne’, Local Population Studies, 1994)


JANUARY 30TH


1787: On this day, workmen levelling part of St John’s graveyard found a body. You wouldn’t think this too exciting an occurrence, but this body – a young woman of around fifteen – was only a few inches below the surface, wrapped in a bloody cloth, and had no head. When examined, the surgeon coroner believed that it had been in the ground about a year, and the coroner’s jury recorded a verdict of wilful murder. Of course, this led to a massive amount of gossip and conjecture as to who the girl, and her killer, might be. The magistrates placed an advertisement in the Newcastle papers: ‘in a situation that induced a suspicion of some person being murdered, a Reward of Twenty Guineas is offered by the Corporation of Newcastle to any person who shall give such information as shall lead to a discovery, or to a satisfactory explanation of the circumstances occasioning the suspicion.’ But although it was examined closely, the body was so putrefied that no distinguishing marks could be found, and no one came forward with a good enough case to warrant an arrest. (Richardson, M., Local Historian’s Table Book, 1841)


JANUARY 31ST


2011: On this day, footballer Andy Carroll was bought by Liverpool from Newcastle United for £35m, a record sum for a transfer of a British player between British clubs. This wasn’t the first time that Newcastle broke this record – in February 1904, Andy McCombie’s transfer from Sunderland for £700 was a world record at the time. He was probably worth it – he stuck with the team as player and trainer, not retiring until 1950. Carroll is from Gateshead, and came to the attention of NUFC at an early age. When he first came onto the pitch in a UEFA Cup match in November 2006, as a late substitute, he was just seventeen years and 300 days old, the youngest man to ever play for Newcastle in Europe. In 2007, he debuted in the FA Cup and Premier League, and was awarded the Wor Jackie trophy for promising young north-eastern players. By 2010 he was a regular fixture and scoring a high percentage of the team’s goals. Perhaps it was his performance against Liverpool in December of that year that encouraged Liverpool to start negotiating a transfer. Their second offer was accepted. Still, Liverpool didn’t end up feeling the pinch too badly – at the same time, they had sold Fernando Torres to Chelsea for £50m. At the time of writing, that sale remains the most expensive one in Britain, and Carroll’s the joint second most expensive.




FEBRUARY 1ST


1937: On this day, the Newcastle News Theatre opened on Pilgrim Street. It was the brainchild of Dixon Scott, a local entrepreneur (and also the great-uncle of directors Ridley Scott and Tony Scott). Scott saw an opportunity to get in on the craze for local news theatres which was sweeping the country. At the time, Newcastle had around forty-seven cinemas with over 40,000 seats – but no news theatres. The building Scott designed was full of rich colours, inspired by his travels in the Middle and Far East. For sixpence, you could go in any time between 10.30 a.m. and 9.30 p.m. and watch seventy-five minutes of newsreels, which were played on a loop. Customers could arrive at any point and start watching news footage until the point at which they arrived came around again. Watching images of real events was still something of a novelty, and people didn’t much mind that some of the news items were days old. Within two years, Newcastle had two other news theatres. The original fought back, opening the Tyneside Coffee Rooms, a small private cinema, and a men-only smoking room. As early as 1944, the Tyneside was making a point of showing European films not shown anywhere else. By the late 1950s, the Tyneside Film Society had 1,500 members and was the largest film society in Britain. Thanks to restoration work in the 2000s, the Tyneside is still going strong, and is one of the last surviving newsreel theatres in the country. (www.tynesidecinema.co.uk)
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